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g~aduates were expected to get practical knowledge as an
apprentice before their academic course, or to become as-
sociated with a practicing dentist after their graduation.

The second school, the Ohio College of Dental Surgery,
was established at Cincinnati in 18452 and ultimately played
a very important part in the development of dentistry in the
midwest. Schools which were organized late~ followed a
pattern of development simiLan to that of Baltimore and Ohio.
Ha~vard Dental College was established in 31867 and was the

first dental college to become associated with a university

which also maintained a medical college. This school can be
credited with having helped to raise the standards of dental
schools. It was the first school to require at least three
years of apprenticeship before entrance, two full terms of
academic training, and the satisfactory completion of a
written thesis. After completing these reqUirements, Harva.rd
Dental College gave an examination. Tho applicant for gradua-
tion was also required to submit a satisfactory specimen of
mechanical dentistry or one of pathological anatomy which he

4had prepared as a student.

The course of study at Harvard became the prototype
fo~ most of the schools which were established during the

2John T. otRourke and Leroy M. S. Miner, Dantal Educa-
tion in the United States, (Philadelphia: Iv. B.Saunders Co.
1941);-p-;-)6. '

3Richard Loclce Hapgood, Historl of the Harvard Dental
School, (Boston: Harvard University Dental School, 1930), p. 12.

4GieS, OPe cit., p. 41.
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next several years. rrhe subjects listed in the curriculum
were anatomy, chemistry, histology, materia medica and

," therapeutics, mechanical dentistry, operative dentistry,
pathology, physiology, and surgery. 'llhesecond term was not
a mere review or the first term lVith more attention to
operative and mechanical dentistry as the original BaLbLmo r-e

cUl:'riculumhad been but was a progressive course or instruct-
ion planned for two full terms.

In 1867 an attempt was made to establish an "Associa-
tion of Colleges of Dentistl"Y.u.5 Although five colleges
formed this group, the association was short-lived because
the schools could not reach an agreement on the question of

6the amount or cr-edd,t to be allowed for previous "pupd Lags It

under the guidance of a reliable practitioner.

'llwoothe r factors influenced the progr-ess of dental
education and the establishment of more dental schools--re-
gulatory dental laws and the derrtaL societies. Early dental
laws did not require a person to have a college degree in
order to take the state board examination but they did make
it advisable to have had some attendance or, preferably, to
have graduated from some school, because most state boards

5Harlan Hoyt Horner, ~ntal Education Todaz, (Chicago:
The University of Chicago Press, 1947), p. 33.

6While the term "pupilageU is not completely acceptable
:Cor use at the present time, the word was used extensively
throughout early dental literature and was a definitive term
employed in the writing of early dental legislation.
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exempted such graduates from state board examinations. The
state of Alabama passed a law regulating the practioe of
dentistry in 1841 but it was not enforced; Kentucky enacted
a dental law in 1869 and later that same year New York and
Ohio followed with similar laws.7

Most of the dental societies were cognizant of the
fact that organization and education were of the utmost im-
portance in elevating the prof'ession above the level of the
unskilled operators and charlatans. These early dental
societies provided a tremendous service by publishing jou!'nals
for the profession. The American Journal of Dental Science
was started in 1839 and the first Dental Register of the West---8was published in 1847. The contents of'the articles in
these early per:l.odicalsshow that dentistry was a struggling
new profession, but a dedicated and determined one.

The only groupS opposed to the expansion of' dental
schools and the enactment of dental legislation were the
preoeptors who foresaw a loss in income from their apprentices,
and a few dealers in dental supplies who feared there would
be a serious limitation of their customers.

These men were not successful in ourtailing the number
of dental schools, because there were nineteen sohools

7Charles R. E. Koch, History of Dental surger~,
(Indiana Ed.; Chicago: The National~t Publishing 0.,
1906), II, 694.

8Koch, Ope cit., I, 347.
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established by 1879.9 A few of these have since closed and
some have merged, but there are about ten of these original
schools still in existence today.

The main purpose of the schools of this period was
to produce dental operators capable of relieving the immediate
dental problem. Preventive dentistry or dental research had
not been developed. Knowledge of these fields and facilities
for them were not advanced enough to warrant their promotion.
It is for this reason that the period from 1875 to 1895 has
often been termed the "Mechanical Age of Dentistry.,,10

9Gies, Ope cit., pp. 42, 46.
100'Rourke and Miner, Ope cit., p. 43.



CHAPTER III

EARLY INFLUENCES ON THE BEGINNING

OF DENTAL EDUCATION IN INDIANA

It is difficult to determine exactly who was the
first dentist to establish a permanent office in Indiana~ or
the date that this was done; however, one of the earliest
and most outstanding Indiana dentists to make an important
contribution to dental education was J. P. Ulrey, of RiSing
Sun. He helped in the founding of the Ohio College of
Dental Surgery and was rewarded for his erro r-t s when the
school conf'erred upon him an honorary degree of'Doctor of

1Dental Surgery.

Dr. Ulrey was a charter member of two early dental
associations--the Mississippi Valley Association of Dental
Surgeons, which was formed in 184-4, and the Indiana State
Dental Association, organized in 1858.

The Ohio College of Dental Surgeons exerted great
influence upon dental education in Indiana through the direct
relationships of' its graduates who located in Indiana and by
lectures and advice given by some of their faculty members
who were frequent visitors at the Indiana dental meetings.

ICharles R. E. Koch, History of Dental surger~,
(Indiana Ed.; Chicago: The National Art Publishing 0.,
1906), II, Addenda.
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The Mississippi Valley Association of Dental Su~-
geons was important to the dentists of Indiana because it
PUblished a journal, ~ Dental Register of the West. This
journal provided an expedient means of circulating up-to-
date dental literature to ethical practitioners in the mid-
west. H. R. Smith, of Terre Haute, was a contributor to
the first issue of this periodical in 18472 and his article
eXPlaining the manifestation of systemic disturbances was
an impressive contribution for that period of dental litera-

ture.

David P. Hunt of Indianapolis, F. E. Squire of
Madison, Dr. W. R. Winton of Dayton~ Indiana and Dr. Ulrey
Were among the organizers of the Mississippi Valley Dental
Association;3 these men are considered the founders of

organized dentistry in Indiana.

David P. Hunt died after only a few years in dental
practice and left his office to his brother, P. G. C. Hunt,
Who had been his apprentice for two years. Both P. G. C.
Bunt and his brother, AndreW, became members of the Mississi-
Ppi Valley Association of Dental Surgeons and helped continue
the efforts of David P. Hunt and J. P. Ulrey in organizing

I 2
H
• R. Smith, "Diseased Gums, Involved With General

l> l'l'ltation of' the MucoUSHembrane of' the Al.imentary Canal,"
~~~ Reg~~~ £f ~ WeB~, I, (September, 1847), 30-33.
D 3Robert W. Gillis, rlDentistry--When the Indiana state
ental Association Was Born" (Paper read at the Annual ~eet-

lng of the Indiana btate Dental Association, Indianapo11s,
May 16, 1933).
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the profession in Indiana.

In 1853, Dr. John F. Johnston, then a recent graduate of

the Ohio College of D d iental Surgery, locate n Indianapolis.

His reputation as an able organizer was ultimately enhanced by
his leadership in forming the Indiana State Dental Association

in 1858.!j. Dr. Gillis points out that this is the oldest State

Dental Association in the world which has always restricted
its active membership to residents of its state and has main-
tained . . t . it inc ti Ita contanuous exJ.S ence SJ.nce s ep on. s service
to the pt'ofession is a fine tt'ibute to these ot'ganizers.

5

In the early sessions of the organization, the intense

interest shown in attempting to elevate the standards of
dentistry in Indiana stimulated many heated argmnents as to

the method of its accomplishment.

Al'though it remained a strictly state organization,
guests from other states were invited to partiCipate in the
discussions regarding education, legislation, etC. Dr.
Jonathan 'raft, dean of the Ohio College of Dental Surgery was
o~ten a guest, as was Dr. G. H. perine, of New York.

As it became obviOUS ttl"t elevation 01' t he pro1'essio
n

COuld not be accomplished without legislation, the Indiana
State Dental Association devoted muctl 01' its e1'fort toward

---------------------------4Indiana State Dental Association. Secretary's
original longhand :~nute~. 1858.

5GilliS, ~!!.
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obtaining the enactment of a law similar to the Ohio dental

Lau ,

The members of the legislative committee of the dental
association felt that the legislatlwe might be more willing
to pass such a law if there was a dental school in the state.
Dr. P. G. C. Hunt was unsuccessful in persuading one of the
Indianapolis medical schools to create a dental departmant.

6

Dr. John F. 'Johnston, who openly opposed the establishment
of a dental school, wrote an article entitled, ttHave We Not

7Too Many Dental Schools?" In this article he advised
strengthening and enlarging the schools already in existence,

rather than forming a new school in Indiana.

There were two editorials in a commercial periodical8 '
The ~nt~~ ~, published in Knightstown in 1878 and 1879,9
which criticized the proposed dental legislation. Mr. T. P.
Wagoner, editor and owner of the publication, also owned a
dental supply depot. Advertisements for this supply depot
constituted the major part of this paper. He felt that the
$25.00 examination fee was oppressive, that it created a
monopoly, and was generally unfair to dentists.

6Indiana State Dental Association, Ope cit., 1878.
7John F ..Johnston, ItHave We Not Too Many Dental SchooLs f "

Dental ~egister 2! ~ West, XXXIII (1879), 76-77.
8Editorial, Dental NeHS, Vol. I, No.5 (September 1,

1878). Chicago. LIbrary,"""N'OrthwesternUniversity School of
Dentistry.

9Editorial, Dental NewS, Vol. I, No.9 (January 1, 1879)~
Chicago. Library, Worthwestern University School of Dentistry.
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Although it seems that some members of the legisla-

tive co~mittee promised members of the state legislature

that a school would be formed if the dental law passed, there

is no evidence that the dental association officially made

such a commitment. In any event, the law was enacted in 1879.
It gave the state association the power to establish an
eXamining board, collect the fee and to issue certificates as

a license to practice. The law permitted any graduate of an

accepted dental school to practice without such a certificate.
10

A diploma was all that was needed.

Dr. p. G. C. Eunt, the first president of the State

Board of Dental Examiners, was one of the men most interested

in the establishment of a school.

rrhe final st ep toward the organization of a dental

school in Indiana was taken when William. L. Heiskell,
President of the Indiana State Dental Association instructed
Drs. Hunt and Cravens to issue an invitation to all the
dentists in the state of Indiana to attend a meeting for the

purpose of establishing a dental school. The meeting was
called for June 23, 1879, at the office of Dr. vlilliam

H
. 11e~skell in Indianapolis.

10Koch, OPe ci~., p. 726.
11Indiana State Dental Association, 0E. cit., 1879.



CHAPTER IV

THE MffiCHANICALAGE OF DENTISTRY

In response to the invitation issued by Drs. Cravens
and Hunt, a group of dentists met on Jlli~e23, 1879 at the

They formed a Dental College A soc·s. J.a-
office of Dr. Heiskell.
tion and elected a board of trustees. All of these trustees
were active members of the Indiana State Dental Association.
Dr. S. T. Kirk was from Kokomo, Dr. M. W. Chappell was a
graduate of the Ohio College of Dental Surgery and located
in Knightstown, and Dr. P. G. C. Hunt was from Indianapolis.
Dr. Hunt's achievements in early dental orgID~izational work
were recognized as outstanding contributions by the Ohio
College of Dental surgery; they conferred upon him an honor-
ary dental degree in 1854, and in 1869 the Indiana Medical

1
college conferred an honorary M. D. degreeo

polis dentists who had also graduated from the Ohio College
of Dental Surgery. S. M. Goode was from Madison; he deserves
much of the credit for the enactment of the first Indiana
dental law. William M. Herriott had practiced dentistry prior
to moving to Indiana; however, he bought the dental supply
house in Indianapolis from a Mr. Strong and thereafter developed

Dr. Junius E. Cravens and Dr. Merit Wells were Indiana-

lThurman B. Rice, "History of the Medical Campus, n
Indiana State Board of Health, Monthly Bulletin, September,
1947, p. 213. --

\
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this business into one of'the outstanding dental depots in

the midwest. Frank Hutchenson was a member of the Board of

T~ustees but little is known about him.

The first meeting closed al~er the election of' these

trustees and reconvened again on July 2, in Dr. Heiskell's

office. Dr. Goode was temporary chairman and the following

officers of the board were elected:
William L. Heiskell, president,
M. W. Chappell, vice-president,
J. E. Cravens, secre~ary,
M. Wells, treasurer.

The first official business was the passing of a

resolution to incorporate the association; the incorporation
3was completed July 11, 1879. Unlike many of the earlier

schools in other states, this school did not receive a charter
t'r-om the state legislature; however, Articles of Association

were filed and the organization was incorporated under this

early Indiana law which was rather vague in its regulations

and limitations.

The particular state law governing this type of

association was a rather loosely-written law which was
primarily meant to govern church and fraternal groups; there-
fore, the accurate interpretation of the status and rights of
the association became difficult, especially in later years.

2Indiana Dental College, Board of Trustees. Secretary's
original longhand Minutes. 1879.

3~. 1879.
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The organization was to be financed by a stock issue

not to exceed $10,000, with each share having a par value

of $5.00. Stock shares sufficient to finance the establish-
ment of a school were immediately sold and the board lost no
time in making arrangements for the school to open in the

fall. This stock was sold mainly to practicing dentists and

to the Indiana State Dental Association.4

Suitable rooms in which to operate the school were

rented at a cost of ~~20.84 per month in the Thorpe Block,
147 East Market Street in Indianapolis. A two year lease of

this space was signed on September 1, 1879. An agent re-
presented the owner, James A. Roosevelt, of New York, father

of the late President Franklin D. Roosevelt.

When the Indiana Dental College opened on October l~
1879, it was the nineteenth school to be established in the
United States and was the thirteenth in existence at that

5time; six of the original eighteen had been closed.

Announcement bulletins of the school of 1879-80 and
1880-81 do not name anyone as the dean; the president of the
board of trustees seems to assume that duty. Some of the
early faculty members credit Dr. P. G. C. Hunt with having
organized the faculty, but he was officially listed as

4Ibid• 1879.
5William J. Gies, De~ Education in the United States

and Canada, Bulletin No. 19, Carnegie Foundation t'or-the"Acr:--
vancement of Teaching, (New York : Carnegie Foundation for the
Advancement of Teaching, 1926), pp. 42, 46.
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Px-ofessor of Inst i tutes of Dent 0.1 Science.

Dx-. Junius E. Cravens was professor of Operative

Dentistx-y and of Dental Histology and Pathology; Dr. Milton

H. Chappell was professor of Clinical Dentistry and Dr.

Joseph Richardson of Terre Haute, an 1853 graduate of Ohio

College of Dental Surgery, was the professor of Mechanical

Dentistry and 14:etallurgy.

Dr. Richardson had previously been a faculty member

of the Ohio College of Dental Surgery where he had taught in

this same capacity, and his e~erience was most valuable to

this school.

He \-las the author of the first actual dental text-

book on Mechanical Dentistry; it was published in l860! (A

series of articles written by Solynan Brown had previously

been published in a journal and subsequently was bound in

book form in 1853.7 Just which one of these men was the author

of the first dental textbook on l'ieehanical Dentistry is a

matter of individual interpretation.) Dr. Richardson had also

written articles in the Dental Cosmos. One of these was,

UExtraction and Propriety of Early Dentures, II which dealt
8

with the importance of immediate dentures.

6 J. Menzies Campbell, A Dental Bibliography, (London:
David Low, 1949), p. 49.

7~. p. 41.
8Joseph RiChar-dson , "Extraction and Propriety of Early

Dentures, it Dental Cosmos, II, (1860), 453.

---
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The Medical College of Indiana, a department or Butler

Universi ty J of'f'er-ed aid in teaching those subjects vm.ich were
al so taught at the Indiana Dental College. This offer was
gratefully accepted and the medical prof'essors listed as
t'aculty members were:

Dr. John Chambers--Dcscription and l1icro-
scopic Anatomy,
Dr. William B. Fletcher--Physiology and
Histo-chemistry,
Dr. Charles Wright--I1ateria HedLca and
Therapeutics,
Dr. Henry Jameson--Chemistry and Diseases of
Childhood Dentition.9

Robert VanValzah, of Terre Haute, was listed as a
special lecturer. He was a descendent of a famous family of
phYSiCians fronl Pennsylvania. As a member or the legislature
he had exerted much influence in obtaining dental legislation.
His interest in education was not limited to dentistry for
he was also chairman of' the school board in Terre Haute and
a member of a number of civic organizations there.

Most of these faculty members served without pay ex-
cept when the board of trustees voted a special payment--
usually because of the great amount of time involved in teach-
ing subjects. Some out-of-town raculty members visited
Indianapolis to deliver their lectures as a concentrated
course given over a period or time ranging rrom a few days to
a week or so. Special lecturers would often spend several

9Indiana Dental College. 3ulletin for 1879-1880.
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days covering their particular special lectu.res,

This period in history saw a decline in the preceptor
type or edu.cation, a gradual beginning or co-operation among

dental schools and an increase in dental legislation. It is
important to remember that while these schools were teaching

dissection in anatomy and other medical subjects, there Vias

no real interest in them. At that time, medical science and

research had not progressed to a point where they shoHed any

promise or aid in the control of dental problems. At this
time, teaching or dentistry was divided into (l) operative
dentistry, a course which included all work done at the dental

chair, and (2) mechanical dentistry, which was the dental

work done in the laboratory.

Policies and Curl:'iculum

ttInstitutes of Dental Science," taught by Professor

P. G. C. Hunt, was described as a course embracing the whole
science and art of dentistry. In this course was a special
study of difficult opera.tions, contour fillings, and the

10correcting of irregularities of the teeth. It was more or
less the finishing touch to a dental student's education,

taught by the outstanding faculty member.

The courses given by the other professors were listed

in descriptive terms that are familiar in today's curriculum

lOIbid. 1879-1880.
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and are still the basic subjects taught.

Sometime after the initial faculty list of the school
was announced, a few additions were made. William Heiskell
was appointed to teach Operative Dentistry; Thomas S. Hacker,
Doctor of Dental Surgery became a demonstrator in Mechanical
Dentistry; John B. Morrison, Doctor of Dental Surgery was a
demonstrator in operative Dentistry; and Dr. Joseph W. Marsie,
M.D., was demonstrator in Dental Anatomy.

Much of the original dental equipment was either sold
to the school at a discount or actually given to it by the
dental supply house owned by William Herriott.

In the first bulletin of 1879-1880 the entrance re-
quirements listed were: "All applicants must first pass an
examination upon the ordinary branches of a common school
education or otherwise satisi'actorily prove to the faculty

11their accomplishment s in that relation. n

There was no definite mention made of the length of
the course in this first bulletin; however, it is apparent
from the text that it consisted of two terms, junior and
senior terms. The bulletin stated that any student could
qualify as a senior student if he had proper knowledge of
common school education and could satisfy either of the
following requirements:

ll~. 1879-1880.


